
 

Democratic Services democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk 
  
  

 
 
 

Title: Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

Date: 9 December 2020 

Time: 4.00pm 

Venue Microsoft teams call 

Members: Councillors: 
Evans (Chair), Deane (Group Spokesperson), 
McNair (Group Spokesperson), Barnett, 
Brennan, Grimshaw, Lewry, Powell, West and 
Wilkinson 
Co-opted Members: 

Caroline Ridley (Community Sector 
Representative), Fran McCabe (Healthwatch), 
Colin Vincent (Older People’s Council) 

Contact: Giles Rossington 
Senior Policy, Partnerships & Scrutiny Officer 
01273 295514 
giles.rossington@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 
The Town Hall has facilities for wheelchair users, 
including lifts and toilets 

 

T  

An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for 
anyone wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter 
and infra red hearing aids are available for use 
during the meeting.  If you require any further 
information or assistance, please contact the 
receptionist on arrival. 

  

 FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are 
instructed to do so, you must leave the building by 
the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to 
the nearest exit by council staff.  It is vital that you 
follow their instructions: 
 

 You should proceed calmly; do not run and do 
not use the lifts; 

 Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 

 Once you are outside, please do not wait 
immediately next to the building, but move 
some distance away and await further 
instructions; and 

 Do not re-enter the building until told that it is 
safe to do so. 

 



 

 
 

Democratic Services: Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee           
         

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

  



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

PART ONE Page 

 
 

16 APOLOGIES AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

  
(a) Declaration of Substitutes: Where Councillors are unable to attend 

a meeting, a substitute Member from the same Political Group may 
attend, speak and vote in their place for that meeting. 

 
(b) Declarations of Interest:  
 

(a) Disclosable pecuniary interests; 
(b) Any other interests required to be registered under the local 

code; 
(c) Any other general interest as a result of which a decision on the 

matter might reasonably be regarded as affecting you or a 
partner more than a majority of other people or businesses in 
the ward/s affected by the decision. 

 
In each case, you need to declare: 
(i) the item on the agenda the interest relates to; 
(ii) the nature of the interest; and 
(iii) whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest or some other 

interest. 
 

If unsure, Members should seek advice from the committee lawyer 
or administrator preferably before the meeting. 

 
(c) Exclusion of Press and Public: To consider whether, in view of the 

nature of the business to be transacted, or the nature of the 
proceedings, the press and public should be excluded from the 
meeting when any of the following items are under consideration. 

 
NOTE: Any item appearing in Part Two of the Agenda states in its 

heading the category under which the information 
disclosed in the report is exempt from disclosure and 
therefore not available to the public. 

 
A list and description of the exempt categories is available for public 
inspection at Brighton and Hove Town Halls and on-line in the 
Constitution at part 7.1. 

 

 

 

17 MINUTES 7 - 14 

 To consider the minutes of the previous Health Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee meeting held on 14 October 2020 (copy attached). 

 



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
 

 

18 CHAIRS COMMUNICATIONS  

 

19 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT  

 To consider the following items raised by members of the public: 
 
(a) Petitions: To receive any petitions presented by members of the 

public to the full Council or to the meeting itself; 
(b) Written Questions: To receive any questions submitted by the due 

date of 12noon on the 4th December 2020. 
(c) Deputations: To receive any deputations submitted by the due date 

of 12 noon on the 4th December 2020. 

 

 

20 MEMBER INVOLVEMENT  

 To consider the following matters raised by councillors: 
 
(a) Petitions: to receive any petitions submitted to the full Council or 

at the meeting itself; 
(b) Written Questions: to consider any written questions; 
(c) Letters: to consider any letters; 
(d) Notices of Motion: to consider any Notices of Motion referred 

from Council or submitted directly to the Committee. 

 

 

21 BRIGHTON & SUSSEX UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS TRUST (BSUH) AND 
WESTERN SUSSEX HOSPITALS NHS FOUNDATION TRUST (WSHT) 
MERGER PROPOSALS 

15 - 18 

 Contact Officer: Giles Rossington Tel: 01273 295514  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

22 COVID 19 AND BAME COMMUNITIES  

 Presentation from Brighton & Hove CCG on the impact of Covid 19 on 
local Black & Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities and steps that the 
health and care system is taking to understand and address inequalities 
(verbal presentation) 

 

 

23 COVID 19 AND MENTAL HEALTH  

 Presentation from Brighton & Hove CCG on the impact of the Covid crisis 
on mental health in the city and on the steps that the local health and care 
system is taking to address additional demand. 

 

 

24 HEALTHWATCH POST DISCHARGE PATIENT PROJECT 19 - 48 

 Contact Officer: Giles Rossington Tel: 01273 295514  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 
 



OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
 

The City Council actively welcomes members of the public and the press to attend its 
meetings and holds as many of its meetings as possible in public.  Provision is also made 
on the agendas for public questions and deputations to committees and details of how 
questions and deputations can be raised can be found on the website and/or on agendas for 
the meetings. 
 
The closing date for receipt of public questions and deputations for the next meeting is 12 
noon on the fifth working day before the meeting. 
 
Electronic agendas can also be accessed through our meetings app available through 
www.moderngov 
 
Agendas and minutes are published on the council’s website www.brighton-hove.gov.uk.  
Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the meeting date. 
 
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, on audio tape or on 
disc, or translated into any other language as requested. 
 
WEBCASTING NOTICE 
This meeting may be filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the Council’s website.  At 
the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being filmed.  
You should be aware that the Council is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act 
1988.  Data collected during this web cast will be retained in accordance with the Council’s 
published policy (Guidance for Employees’ on the BHCC website). 
 
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting contact Giles Rossington, 
(01273 295514, email giles.rossington@brighton-hove.gov.uk) or email 
democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk  
 
 

 
Date of Publication - Tuesday, 1 December 2020 

 
 
     
     

     
    

 
 

     
    

 
 

 

https://www.moderngov.co.uk/our-solutions/tablet-app-paperless-meetings
http://www.brighton-hove.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk




1 
 

Agenda item 17 
 

BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

4.00pm 14 OCTOBER 2020 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER, HOVE TOWN HALL 
 

MINUTES 
 

Present: Councillor Evans (Chair) 
 
Also in attendance: Councillor Deane (Group Spokesperson), McNair (Group 
Spokesperson), Barnett, Grimshaw, Lewry, Osborne, West, Phillips and Williams 
 
Other Members present: Fran McCabe (Healthwatch), Caroline Ridley (CVS 
representative), Colin Vincent (Older People’s Council) 
 

 
 

PART ONE 
 
 

8 PROCEDURAL BUSINESS 
 
8.1 There were no declarations of interest. 
 
8.2 Cllr Alex Phillips attended as substitute for Cllr Steph Powell. 
 
 Cllr Gill Williams attended as substitute for Cllr Gary Wilkinson. 
 
8.3 RESOLVED – that the press and public be not excluded from the meeting. 
 
9 MINUTES 
 
9.1 The draft minutes of the 15th July 2020 HOSC meeting were agreed. 
 
10 CHAIR'S COMMUNICATIONS 
 
10.1 The Chair gave the following communications: 
 
Good afternoon everyone and welcome to this afternoon’s meeting. Please bear with me if I 
make any mistakes today, since this is my first time as Chair of this committee.  Technically I’m 
a new member of HOSC as well, since I left briefly at the end of the last municipal year – which 
meant I actually only missed the July meeting. We also have a couple of departing members 
from HOSC, namely Councillor Jacqui O’Quinn and Councillor Elaine Hills, and I’d like to send 
our thanks to them for their input in past meetings and overall service to this body.  
 

7



 

2 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14 OCTOBER 
2020 

To replace them, we welcome Councillor Pete West and Councillor Gary Wilkinson – or we 
would welcome Gary, if he hadn’t been called away and needed a sub at short notice – so, a 
hearty welcome to Pete, to Gill Williams, subbing for Gary today, and to Alex Phillips, subbing 
for Steph Powell. 
 
Obviously, the health picture both locally and nationally remains of grave and increasing 
concern, and I’d like to once again give heartfelt thanks to the professionals taking the time 
both to produce the reports we will be discussing today and to attend this meeting to present 
them to us.  
 
I’d also like to give heartfelt thanks to everyone who works in either the NHS or in social care 
for their commitment and sacrifice – the unprecedented situation that has unfolded over the 
last seven or eight months can’t have been easy. Our already overstretched NHS has been 
further stretched to the absolute limits of endurance. Many healthcare workers have been ill 
themselves, far too many have died, many have been left traumatised, and with numbers rising 
steeply again, it is becoming harder to see the light at the end of the tunnel.  
 
That workers at all levels continue to give their all, going above and beyond in so many cases 
to give exceptional service despite their own exhaustion and understandable fear, is incredibly 
inspiring.  They know that the NHS must try, within extremely squeezed resources, to cope not 
only with the second wave of Covid, but with reinstating the many services that were affected 
by the first wave, and trying to get back as close to normality as possible, with winter on its 
way. They deserve as much support and gratitude as we can give them.  
 
B&H has been relatively lightly hit to date – although that relatively still includes far too many 
people falling ill and too many people dying. But we know numbers are rising locally - indeed, 
have doubled in the last week - and it looks like it’s going to be a tough winter ahead. Even 
though we recognise that NHS and social care staff are busy and are going to be even busier, 
the HOSC has an important role to play in helping the public understand how the system is 
planning to fight Covid whilst maintaining crucial non-Covid services. And maybe that we will 
be particularly focused on what is being done to protect our most vulnerable communities 
through all of this – whether that’s BAME Communities at greater risk from Covid; people with 
serious health conditions like cancer who desperately need timely access to treatments; or 
older people and people from our most deprived communities who may struggle to access 
services digitally. 
 
 
11 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT 
 
11.1 Two public questions were received. One questioner, Christopher Tredgold asked for 

his question to be submitted as a written question. The other questioner, Valerie 
Mainstone, was unable to join the meeting call, so her question was also dealt with as a 
written question. 

 
11.2(a) The following question was received from Ms Valerie Mainstone: 
 

Dame Marianne Griffiths, CEO of West Sussex Hospitals Trust and of Brighton & 
Sussex Universities Hospital Trust, now wishes to merge them into a single entity. 
Meanwhile, Sir Simon Stevens, CEO of NHS England "hopes" that there will be only one 
CCG corresponding to each Integrated Care System by April 2020. Does the HOSC 

8



 

3 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14 OCTOBER 
2020 

share my concern that these proposed mergers will be the death knell of local decision-
making, and result in a democratic deficit, whereby Brighton & Hove GPs currently 
serving on our CCG, and Brighton & Hove Councillors currently serving on our HWB 
and HOSC, will find it very hard to represent our local interests on enormous regional 
bodies? 

 
11.2(b) The Chair responded: 
 

The short answer to your question is that yes, I do share your concern, particularly at 
the proposal from NHSE to end up with only one CCG per Integrated Care System, 
which in our case would be the whole of Sussex, as opposed to the three the region has 
currently.  

 
The more nuanced answer is I do accept that there can sometimes be good arguments 
for NHS bodies merging, whether this is to ensure the very best leadership; to save on 
management costs; or to realise the benefits of working at scale in terms of sharing 
workforce, procurement and so on. However, there is a real risk that large regional NHS 
organisations, whether they are commissioners or service providers, will lose focus on 
the issues affecting local areas.  

 
This is a particular concern for Brighton & Hove as we are a compact urban area 
surrounded by large suburban and rural areas. The city faces distinct ‘urban’ problems, 
in terms of deprivation, a high prevalence of mental health issues, high substance abuse 
rates and many other factors, and I am worried that an NHS operating on an 
increasingly regional basis could lose sight of these problems – and also some of our 
unique local strengths such as our really significant community and voluntary sector 
resources.  

 
As a HOSC, we can’t stop NHS organisations merging even if we want to, but we can 
challenge them, seeking assurance that they have robust processes in place to ensure 
that their local focus is not diluted. I’m happy to commit the HOSC to doing this.” 

 
11.3(a) The following question was received from Dr Christopher Tredgold:  
 

'Care Home residents have been the most severely affected by Covid-19 - accounting 
for over 40% of England’s high death rate. 

 
Age and undiagnosed infected patients discharged from hospital have been causes of 
this - but so have a lack of testing and adequate PPE. 
Testing is at last planned - weekly for the staff, monthly for the residents. Homes and 
Local authorities need the results quickly. 

 
How will the HOSC ensure that all staff and residents in Care Homes receive clear test 
results and that all staff have access to adequate PPE?' 

 
11.3(b) The Chair responded: 
 

“There is regular testing in city care homes, and overall in recent weeks the system has 
improved but there are still issues. Over recent months, complaints from care homes 

9



 

4 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14 OCTOBER 
2020 

about aspects of the testing system have reduced. This is echoed by dialogue that the 
Council has had directly with care providers – e.g. through the Care Homes Forum. 

 
However, whilst many aspects of the system have seen improvements, there are still 
concerns about how quickly tests are being processed. We are currently seeing some 
tests results reported in around 4-5 days with some providers reporting of a small 
number of results not being returned at all. This is well above the Government’s 
promised turnaround time of 48 hours. We remain concerned that timeliness of test 
results isn’t sufficient and are concerned how this might impact detection of particularly 
asymptomatic cases. 

 
 
 
 
 
12 MEMBER INVOLVEMENT 
 
12.1 There were no member questions. 
 
13 COVID: LOCAL HEALTH & CARE SYSTEM RESPONSES AND PLANNING 
 
13.1 This item was introduced by Lola Bankoko, CCG Managing Director. Grace Hanley, 

BHCC Assistant Director, Health & Adult Social Care, was also present to answer 
questions. 

 
13.2 Members were told that there were a number of learning points from the first wave of 

Covid 19. These included: 
 

 Systems were used to responding to localised, short-term incidents rather than 
sustained, global ones. 

 There was sometimes an overload of information and guidance from Government. 

 Having different digital platforms hampered co-working. 

 There were significant issues with PPE supply. 
 

This learning has been incorporated into system planning for service restoration & recovery 
and into planning for winter 20/21. Particular points include: 

 

 The need to support staff at risk of burnout. 

 Actions to address health inequalities. 

 Recovery of services is complicated by the need to maintain social distancing and 
infection control requirements. This means that many services will be running at lower 
than normal productivity levels. 

 Workforce shielding and self-isolation will also impact productivity. 

 Primary care is resuming more face to face consultations. 

 Elective procedures have resumed. 

 Dementia services have resumed. 

 Urgent and cancer care were never paused. However, there has been reduced demand 
in these areas, with people reluctant to present for treatment. Work is under way 

10



 

5 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14 OCTOBER 
2020 

(including projects with Healthwatch) to encourage people to present for treatment if 
they need to. 

 Mental health demand has increased, and additional capacity has been added for 
psychological therapies, the crisis café etc.  

 Communities with worse Covid outcomes will be targeted. These include BAME 
communities, people with disabilities and men. 

 
13.3 Grace Hanley added that services have learnt a lot during the pandemic, particularly 

around partnership working and the challenges and opportunities offered by remote 
working. It is important that organisations adapt quickly to remote working as staff 
require different types of support. 

 
13.4 In response to a question from Cllr Williams on engaging with digitally excluded people, 

Ms Banjoko told members that face to face consultations will always be offered where 
clinically appropriate, although this may involve longer waiting times. The switch to 
digital was much more rapid than had been planned for and the system is still learning 
the best ways to operate digitally. For example, using call-back means that callers do 
not have to wait for long periods for their call to be answered is an area to be explored 
where this is not in place . 

 
13.5 Fran McCabe commented that the move to digital had changed the relationship between 

service users and providers. The recent Healthwatch survey of experiences with digital 
found that younger people were generally comfortable with digital contact, but that older 
people were less so. Face to face appointments are better for many people and it is 
important that services do not over-rely on digital. Ms Banjoko noted that ‘digital by 
default’ was really just an interim position to deal with an urgent situation and that future 
services would include a mix of digital and face to face. 

 
 
14 SUSSEX HEALTH & CARE PARTNERSHIP (SHCP) WINTER PLAN 
 
14.1 This item was introduced by Katy Jackson, BSUH Deputy Chief Operating Officer. Lola 

Banjoko (CCG Managing Director) and Grace Hanley (BHCC Assistant Director, HASC) 
also answer member queries. 

 
14.2 In response to a question from Cllr McNair on the flu jab, Ms Jackson told the committee 

that the uptake this year is currently high. The jab is also being offered to all people 
aged 50 and above. The system has worked hard to encourage take-up, particularly 
from staff, and on removing any barriers to take-up – e.g. the historic competition 
between GPs and pharmacies. 

 
14.3 Caroline Ridley asked whether thought had been given to the use of community venues 

for administering the flu jab, particularly for the most clinically vulnerable people, if GP 
surgeries were not available. Lola Banjoko agreed to consider this idea. 

 
14.4 Cllr West noted that there have been issues with flu vaccine supply to pharmacies. 

Significant problems can arise when supplies arrive late. Cllr West also noted that the 
Winter Plan contains little explicit mention of pharmacy services, even though these are 
key to the health & care system. Recognition also needs to be given to the additional 
signposting work pharmacies have had to take on during the Covid emergency.  Ms 

11



 

6 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14 OCTOBER 
2020 

Jackson responded that she would look into the prominence given to pharmacies in the 
Winter Plan. However, there is definitely more mention of them in the full Plan (the 
version shared with HOSC is abridged for ease of reading). Pharmacies do indeed play 
a key role in the system. 

 
14.5 Cllr West queried the degree to which older people (who are amongst the most likely to 

be digitally excluded) have been represented in online surveys such as the Healthwatch 
survey of customer satisfaction with digital health services. Fran McCabe agreed that 
the issue of under-representation of the digitally excluded was an issue in online 
surveys. Healthwatch are working to find alternative methods of reaching this group. It 
should be noted that the Healthwatch survey found significantly lower levels of 
satisfaction with digital services from older respondents, so it is likely that the real level 
of dissatisfaction is even higher. 

 
14.6 In response to a question from Cllr Phillips about the accuracy of assessments of 

homeless people’s health needs, Grace Hanley agreed to follow-up on this issue outside 
the meeting. 

 
14.7 Cllr Grimshaw raised an issue she had encountered whilst trying to support someone 

with digital access issues to register with a GP. This would have been relatively easy to 
address face-to-face, but was really complicated when this was not permitted due to 
Covid. Lola Banjoko agreed to take this point up outside the meeting. 

 
14.8 In response to a question from Cllr McNair on training for digital consultations, Ms 

Banjoko agreed that it was important to recognise that digital interactions require a 
specific set of skills. The rapid move to digital is a learning process for all concerned and 
it is becoming clear that digital has disadvantages and is unlikely to become the default 
mode for some areas of health care such as surgical assessment and diagnostics. 

 
14.9 Fran McCabe asked what the public could do to support the health and care system 

over what is likely to be a difficult winter period. Ms Banjoko responded that everyone 
needs to adhere to the core public health infection prevention messages. In addition it is 
important that people with long-term conditions continue to take their medications as 
they should. It is also crucial that people seek help when they need it. 

 
14.10 Grace Hanley told members that there has been some additional Government funding 

for residential care, and that GPs, Sussex Community NHS Foundation Trust and Public 
Health are all also providing additional support. There will be a focus on getting 
discharge from hospital right (especially for Covid positive patients); on communication 
with care providers; and on workforce (the current position is good). She was optimistic 
that the system will manage well over the winter, building on the excellent partnership 
working to deal with the first wave of Covid. 

 
14.11 The Chair raised an issue concerning a vulnerable person she had been supporting who 

was struggling to access services and who had subsequently died. Ms Banjoko 
expressed her sadness to hear this and agreed to take this up outside the meeting. 

 
14.12 In response to a question from Cllr Osborne on the scale of service backlogs and how 

long it will take to recover, Ms Banjoko told members that this is  a fluid situations as 
furtheras Infection Prevention Control measures have reduced the capacity of services. 

12



 

7 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14 OCTOBER 
2020 

Also, the need to provide a Covid secure environment has meant that some services 
(e.g. endoscopy) are functioning with reduced productivity. The system is assessing 
need and prioritising patients in the most urgent clinical need of services including those 
with long waits. 

 
15 FOUNDATIONS FOR OUR FUTURE – THE FINAL REPORT FROM THE SUSSEX 

WIDE CHILDREN & YOUNG PERSON’S EMOTIONAL HEALTH & WELLBEING 
SERVICE REVIEW 

 
15.1 This item was introduced by Steve Appleton, independent Chair of the review. Deb 

Austin, BHCC Interim Executive Director, Families, Children & Schools, also responded 
to members’ questions; as did Ashley Scarff, Deputy Managing Director, Brighton & 
Hove CCG. 

 
15.2 In response to a question from Cllr Osborne on young people’s input into service design, 

members were told that this was an important issue, and a flaw in current services. 
Agreed review recommendations include the creation of a pan-Sussex Programme 
Director post reporting to a group including the three Sussex Directors of Children’s 
Services, CCGs and Sussex Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (SPFT). The intention is 
to also have young person/parent carer representation on this group. 

 
15.3 In answer to a question from Cllr Deane about the impact of Covid on mental health and 

wellbeing, Mr Appleton told the committee that the majority of the work of the review 
was completed well before the Covid emergency. However, it is clear that Covid has 
exacerbated many problems. Issues include uncertainty about exams, social isolation 
and financial insecurity in families. This is likely to increase anxiety amongst teenagers, 
who are already suffering from high levels of anxiety, particularly around climate 
change.  

 
Covid does offer an opportunity to rethink services, particularly in terms of how to work 
better with faith and community sector groups. It is, however, disappointing that the 
group overseeing the implementation of review recommendations has not yet met and 
the Programme Director post not yet appointed to. 

 
15.4 In response to a question from Cllr Grimshaw about what he hoped to see in terms of 

concrete changes in the near future, Mr Appleton told members that he hoped to see a 
reduction in waiting times for services; a widening of the range of support services 
offered; a more outcomes-focused approach to commissioning; and a broader focus on 
emotional health rather than just a focus on mental health. 

 
15.5 In response to a question from Cllr McNair about the need to embrace a more holistic 

wellbeing model for services, Mr Appleton agreed that this is key. The need for a more 
preventative and less medicalised approach is accepted across the system, but there is 
very little funding available to make changes, and any positive change will require 
consistent buy-in from medical professionals. The concordat which accompanies the 
review report is intended to break down some of the professional barriers that work 
against a holistic approach. 

 
15.6 Caroline Ridley noted that CVS organisations had seen more demand for some services 

during lockdown, but also a reduction in demand from young people who were 

13



 

8 
 

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 14 OCTOBER 
2020 

struggling with the school environment and found learning remotely less stressful. 
However, lots of young people are now struggling with the post-lockdown school 
environment. Online counselling was widely in place before the lockdown and this 
definitely helped make the transition from face-to-face support easier. 

 
15.7 Ashley Scarff told the committee that Covid had impacted on plans to implement the 

review recommendations. However, the appointment of a Programme Director and the 
establishment of an Oversight Group are both immanent. The review will have been 
through the governance systems of all relevant organisations by the end of October 
also. 

 
15.8 Fran McCabe noted that she was glad to see so much young person and family input 

into the review. However, she worried about how urgently implementation would take 
place. Whilst understanding that Covid was an issue, there is an urgent need to 
establish a single point of access, and in particular to address the really worrying 
increase in self-harm. Mr Appleton agreed that urgency is key and it is important that 
commissioners and providers set out their timetables for implementing the required 
improvements. Mr Scarff responded that the Oversight Group, co-chaired by the CE of 
SPFT and the East Sussex County Council Director of Children’s Services, would be 
established imminently and will be responsible for setting implementation timetables. 
Deb Austin added that a single point of access is being actively considered. 

 
15.9 The Chair thanked Mr Appleton for all his work on the review. 
 
15.10 - Resolved: that the report be noted. 
 

 
The meeting concluded at Time Not Specified 

 
Signed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair 

Dated this day of  
 

14



HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 21 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Brighton & Sussex University Hospitals Trust 
(BSUH) and Western Sussex Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust (WSHT) Merger Proposals 

Date of Meeting: 09 December 2020 

Report of: Executive Lead, Strategy, Governance & Law 

Contact Officer: Name: Giles Rossington Tel: 01273 295514 

 Email: Giles.rossington@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND POLICY CONTEXT 
 
1.1 In July 2020, BSUH and WSHT announced intentions for a merger of the two 

NHS Trusts.  
 
1.2 The HOSC Chair has asked BSUH to present on their merger intentions at the 

December 2020 HOSC meeting. 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That members note this report. 
 
 
3. CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3.1 Brighton & Hove University Hospitals Trust (BSUH) is an NHS Trust which 

provides acute hospital services to the populations of Brighton & Hove and Mid-
Sussex as well as significant numbers of people in East and West Sussex. BSUH 
also provides tertiary (specialist) services to the whole of Sussex. BSUH 
manages the Royal Sussex County Hospital: RSCH (Brighton), Princess Royal 
Hospital: PRH (Hayward’s Heath), the Royal Alex Children’s Hospital, and the 
Sussex Eye Hospital. 

 
3.2 Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WSHT) is an NHS Trust which 

provides acute hospital services to West Sussex residents. It manages Worthing 
and St Richards (Chichester) Hospitals. 
 

3.3 In April 2017, BSUH was placed under the executive management of WSHT 
following BSUH being placed in Special Measures in response to a Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) inspection report. At this time WSHT was ranked by the CQC 
as an Outstanding Trust. Subsequently, WSHT has become the first hospital 
Trust in England to be rated as Outstanding in every domain; and BSUH has 

15



become the fastest improving hospital Trust in England, ranking as Good Overall 
and Outstanding for Caring in its most recent CQC inspection.  
 

3.4 In July 2020, BSUH and WSHT announced their intention to merge the two 
Trusts into a single NHS Trust operating across four major hospital sites in West 
Sussex and Brighton & Hove. 
 

3.5 Under the NHS Act (2006), HOSCs have a statutory duty to act as a formal 
consultee to NHS bodies planning to make Substantial Variations in Services 
(SViS). However, the Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing 
Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations (2013) exclude matters relating to the 
creation, dissolution or constitutional change of NHS Trusts from SViS duties. 
Plans to merge BSUH and WSHT are consequently exempt from health scrutiny 
legislation and there is no legal duty for the Trusts to consult with their local 
HOSCs. 
 

3.6 It is nonetheless possible for HOSCs to have informal conversations with local 
NHS bodies, especially where NHS plans are of interest or concern to local 
people, and BSUH has agreed to present on its merger plans to the HOSC. 
Members may be particularly interested in the steps that a merged Trust would 
take to ensure that there is a continuing focus on Brighton & Hove as a locality 
with distinct health needs. 
 

3.7 The Trust Board is considering a Business Case for a merger at its 03 December 
meeting. BSUH will update on this at the 09 December HOSC meeting. 

 
4. ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 Not relevant to this report for information. 
 

 
 
5. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 None in relation to this report for information. 
 
6.  CONCLUSION  
 
6.1 Members are asked to note the contents of this report which introduces 

proposals to merge BSUH and WSHT NHS Trusts. 
 
 
 
7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
Financial Implications: 

 
7.1 Not relevant to this report for information. 
 
  
 

Legal Implications: 

16



 
7.2 To follow 
   
 Lawyer Consulted: Name Date: dd/mm/yy 
 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
7.3 Members may wish to explore how a merger of BSUH and WSHT could lead to 

improved outcomes for protected groups, specifically including disabled people, 
people from BAME communities and older people. Members may also want to 
explore whether the merger plans may have a negative impact on any of these 
groups, and if so, what mitigations are being considered. 

 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
7.4 None directly to this report. Members may be interested to explore whether 

BSUH has identified sustainability opportunities and risks as a consequence of 
the merger: e.g. whether procurement of supplies at a greater scale could be 
carbon-positive; whether the opportunities to rationalise service across multiple 
sites that a merger may offer have the potential to be carbon-negative or positive 
in terms of patient/staff journeys. 
 
Brexit Implications: 
 

7.5 Insofar as a merged Trust is likely to offer enhanced opportunities for career 
advancement, a merger may make it easier for BSUH/WSHT to recruit and retain 
staff. This may prove advantageous if post-Brexit trade/immigration 
arrangements have a negative impact on recruitment of EU nationals. 

 
Any Other Significant Implications: 
 

7.6 None identified 
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
None 
  
 
 
Background Documents 
None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17



 
 
 
 
 
 

18



HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

Agenda Item 24 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Healthwatch Hospital Discharge Wellbeing Project 
(HOP) 

Date of Meeting: 09 December 2020 

Report of: Executive Lead, Strategy, Governance & Law 

Contact Officer: Name: Giles Rossington Tel: 01273 295514 

 Email: Giles.rossington@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF REPORT AND POLICY CONTEXT 
 
1.1 This report contains information on the Healthwatch Hospital Discharge 

Wellbeing Project. 
 
1.2 This issue was referred to HOSC for information by the BHCC Performance & 

Information Group (PIG). 
 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That members note the contents of this report. 
 
 
3. CONTEXT/ BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
 
3.1 Healthwatch Brighton and Hove volunteers have been providing Wellbeing 

signposting calls to people discharged from the Royal Sussex County Hospital, in 
Brighton and Hove, as part of the Healthwatch COVID response. 

 
3.2 To date over 2000 local people have been referred to HOPs. 
 

3.3 A report on the first 6 months of this experimental project is attached April – 
September 2020 (see Appendix 1). 

 
3.4 The project has featured in as an exemplar of good practice in a national report 

on Hospital Discharge published by Healthwatch England and the Red Cross 
see: 
https://www.healthwatch.co.uk/sites/healthwatch.co.uk/files/20201026%20People
s%20experiences%20of%20leaving%20hospital%20during%20COVID-19_0.pdf 
with a recommendation that similar projects be rolled out nationally by the NHS 

 
3.5 Case Study/Comments from Medical staff 
 
3.5(a) Recent case study from a Healthwatch volunteer: 

19

https://www.healthwatch.co.uk/sites/healthwatch.co.uk/files/20201026%20Peoples%20experiences%20of%20leaving%20hospital%20during%20COVID-19_0.pdf
https://www.healthwatch.co.uk/sites/healthwatch.co.uk/files/20201026%20Peoples%20experiences%20of%20leaving%20hospital%20during%20COVID-19_0.pdf


“I phoned Paul on 18/11. He lives in the XXXXX and I spoke to the person on duty 
having already tried Paul’s mobile. She said he slept all mornings. 
 
Paul has substance misuse problems, underlying Mental Health concerns and recently 
lost his girlfriend. He has numerous medial conditions and ulcerated legs. 
 
Later that day, I spoke to Paul after we had missed calls to one another. 
 
I got a call from him in a very distressed state. He was threatening to kill himself. Did not 
see any point in living. He wanted to be with his girlfriend who died of cancer 2-3 weeks 
ago. I kept him talking about his girlfriend and family, but it got to the point that he said-
 “ I am going to do it now”. 
 
I realised I had the staff number in the XXXXX and thankfully someone was there and I 
had them on one phone and Paul on the other, keeping him talking until they got to his 
room, when I ‘passed over’ to them. 
 
I phoned the staff this morning and Paul had called 999 himself in the small hours and 
has been admitted to hospital. We got thanks from the staff at his accommodation.” 
 
 
3.5(b) Comment from a Hospital doctor: 
“There are always patients that pray on your mind, when they are discharged they keep 
you awake at night. HOPs takes some of that away, just knowing they are getting a 
friendly call a few days after being discharged, it makes all the difference.” 
 
3.5(c) Comment from Senior Nurse: 
“ I genuinely believe this is a great and much needed project and you have my full 
support.” 
 
 
4. ANALYSIS & CONSIDERATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS 
 
4.1 Not relevant to this report for information. 
 

 
 
5. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT & CONSULTATION 
 
5.1 This report has been compiled jointly with Healthwatch Brighton & Hove. 
 
6.  CONCLUSION  
 
6.1 Members are asked to note the findings of the Healthwatch Hospital Discharge 

Wellbeing Project. 
 

 
 
7. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 
Financial Implications: 

 

20



7.1 Not relevant to this report for information. 
 
  
 

Legal Implications: 
 
7.2 No legal implications identified 
   
 Lawyer Consulted: Elizabeth Culbert Date: 01/12/2020 
 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
7.3 Equalities issues are dealt with in the Healthwatch report (Appendix 1) 
 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
7.4 None identified. 

 
Brexit Implications: 
 

7.5 None identified. 
 
 

Any Other Significant Implications: 
 

7.6 7.6 None identified. 
 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
 
 
1. Healthwatch Brighton & Hove Hospital Discharge Wellbeing Project Report 
 
  
 
 
Background Documents 
None 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

21



 
 
 
 

22



1 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
  

      
 
 
 
 

 
Healthwatch Brighton and Hove 

Hospital Discharge Wellbeing Project (HOPs) 
 

April - September 2020 
 

Published: September 2020 

23



2 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Hospital Discharge Wellbeing Project (HOPS) project started early in 
April 2020 as part of the response to COVID 19; the service is offered to 
anyone discharged from hospital - not just those with the virus- or virus-
related conditions. The project is jointly funded by Brighton and Hove City 
Council and NHS Brighton and Hove Clinical Commissioning Group  (CCG) – 
initially for six months, with an extension until end December 2020 -  with 
oversight from these organisations and Brighton and Sussex University 
Hospitals NHS Trust. 
 
Local Healthwatch is the official watchdog and voice for patients and the 
public, for health and social care, we work closely with other Healthwatch 
in Sussex, the Brighton and Hove Community Hub and local voluntary and 
community organisations, particularly with Community Works, Possibility 
People and the Carers Centre supporting this project. 
 
People are phoned by Healthwatch trained volunteers within a few days of 
discharge from hospital, usually in the first week. We are not a care 
provider organisation; our role is to signpost and assist people to find the 
help they need. This is also not an engagement project- i.e. we are not 
primarily  asking people directly about their experience of discharge, 
although we do ask if there are any outstanding issues associated with their 
hospital discharge, or issues that have arisen since coming home from 
hospital, previously unanticipated, with which they may need assistance. 
People referred to HOPs have been discharged from hospital on Care 
Pathways 0 and 1 = Needing no further assistance (0) or Needing some 
assistance which can be provided at home, in their normal place of 
residence.1  Referral from care pathways 2 and 3 would not be appropriate 
as people in these pathways leave hospital to transfer to care homes or 
nursing homes, temporarily or permanently. 
 

24



3 | P a g e  
 

 
 

Contents 
 

Background ..................................................................................... 4 

The guidance recommended: ................................................................ 4 

Performance summary ........................................................................ 5 

1. Issues to note ............................................................................... 7 

1.1 Need for the service ................................................................. 7 

1.2 Reassurance for the City Council and NHS .......................................... 8 

1.3 Public and Patient confidence in the service ...................................... 9 

1.4 Successful contacts ..................................................................... 9 

1.5 Referral flow .......................................................................... 10 

1.6 Are people made aware of this Healthwatch service? .......................... 11 

1.7 People referred onto additional community support ........................... 12 

1.8 HOPs and unpaid Carers ............................................................. 12 

2. Discussion and case studies ................................................................  

2.1 The impact of HOPS – Hospital Discharge Wellbeing signposting .............. 12 

2.2 Improved experience of hospital discharge and integrated care .............. 13 

3. Sustainability .............................................................................. 15 

4. Hospital re-admission rates for HOPs .................................................. 16 

5. Mental Health needs ..................................................................... 16 

6. Comments from HOPs partners ......................................................... 17 

7. HOPs volunteers .......................................................................... 19 

8. HOPs Case Studies ........................................................................ 20 

 
 

 

25



4 | P a g e  
 

 
The HOPs project was developed as part of the Healthwatch, Brighton and Hove 
City Council and NHS response to COVID-19 but is available to people discharged 
from hospital whatever their condition, COVID related or not. The concern from 
Healthwatch was to help people by signposting them to local services that might 
be harder to find during the COVID period. 
  
On the 19th March 2020, The Department of Health and Social Car, published its 
guidelines for the NHS and local authorities for hospital discharge in the context of 
the COVID-19 pandemic:  
 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-stepdown-
of-infection-control-precautions-within-hospitals-and-discharging-covid-19-
patients-from-hospital-to-home-settings/guidance-for-stepdown-of-infection-
control-precautions-and-discharging-covid-19-patients  
 
On the 8th of April, just a few days after that guidance, the Healthwatch Brighton 
and Hove HOPs project made its first phone calls to local people after discharge 
from the Royal Sussex County Hospital. 

 
 
 
 

✓ Discharge requires teamwork across many people and organisations and the 
funding and eligibility blockages that currently exist cannot remain in place 
during the COVID-19 emergency period 
 

✓ Patients will still receive high quality care from acute and community 
hospitals but will not be able to stay in a bed as soon as this is no longer 
necessary. For 95% of patients leaving hospital this will mean that (where it 
is needed), the assessment and organising of ongoing care will take place 
when they are in their own home.  

 
✓ Councils and adult social care should coordinate work with local and 

national voluntary sector organisations to provide services and support to 
people requiring support around discharge from hospital and subsequent 
recovery 

 
✓ The voluntary and community sector should mobilise quickly and focus on 

safety and positive experiences for patients on the discharge process, 
enabling patients to feel supported at home. They can also help reticent 
patients feel much more comfortable about being discharged  

 

✓ Provide ongoing community-based support to support emotional wellbeing, 
such as wellbeing daily phone calls and companionship 

  

Background 

The guidance recommended: 

26

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-stepdown-of-infection-control-precautions-within-hospitals-and-discharging-covid-19-patients-from-hospital-to-home-settings/guidance-for-stepdown-of-infection-control-precautions-and-discharging-covid-19-patients
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-stepdown-of-infection-control-precautions-within-hospitals-and-discharging-covid-19-patients-from-hospital-to-home-settings/guidance-for-stepdown-of-infection-control-precautions-and-discharging-covid-19-patients
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-stepdown-of-infection-control-precautions-within-hospitals-and-discharging-covid-19-patients-from-hospital-to-home-settings/guidance-for-stepdown-of-infection-control-precautions-and-discharging-covid-19-patients
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-guidance-for-stepdown-of-infection-control-precautions-within-hospitals-and-discharging-covid-19-patients-from-hospital-to-home-settings/guidance-for-stepdown-of-infection-control-precautions-and-discharging-covid-19-patients


5 | P a g e  
 

✓ Engage with NHS providers (particularly discharge teams) to provide 
solutions to operational discharge challenges, freeing-up clinical staff for 
other activities – focusing on the patients on pathway 0  

 
✓ Coordinate support between voluntary organisations and existing volunteers 

within NHS providers.  
 
The HOPs project was conceived within the spirit of that DHSC guidance and for 
many is starting to be not just a part of the COVID response but something that 
should be ‘business as usual’. A continuing light touch support and signposting 
service to check on and assist people after hospital discharge. 
 

 
 
 

 
1,152 people covered by this report; an additional 151 people are currently 
being managed within the project, 114 are on a waiting list i 
 
HOPs supported 709 people referred April to September 2020.  The proportion 
of people referred that we were unable to contact is as emerging issue.  
 
People we have called several times but who have not responded to calls or 
messages represents 18% of all referrals. That has increased over the life of the 
project roughly in proportion to the rising number of referrals. Of the people 
we were unable to contact 35 were passed onto their GP surgery for follow up 
care that could be provided or arranged by primary or community health care 
services.  
 
178 people (25%) were proactively referred on by Healthwatch for some form 
of community support, 515 (75%) people were supported during the phone 
conversation, signposted to advice or information, or needed no further 
assistance.ii 
 
204 (29%) people – had questions or issues post discharge of these 119 had 
issues or questions that related directly to their hospital discharge.iii 
 
59% Female 40% male 1% preferred not to say/unspecified. 
 

Performance summary 
 

April 7th – September 14th  
• 1,424 people have been referred to the project  

• 1,152 attempted contacts to the 14/09/2020 

• 704 successful contacts  

• 208 attempted unsuccessful calls – were referral information indicated there might be issues, 
follow phone text messages were sent offering a proactive follow up  

• 151 are still active – allocated to volunteers and being called in the next 7 days  

• 114 are on a waiting list – will be allocated in the next 3-7 days 

27



6 | P a g e  
 

45% – had long-term health or disability issues lasting more than 12 months. 
  
18.5% – identified by NHS by letter or text as extremely vulnerable 
180 (25%) – are unpaid carers, of those 32 people wanted to get additional 
support from the carer’s hub. 
 
83% people told us they had not received a leaflet explaining they would be 
receiving a call from Healthwatch before being discharged from Hospital – if not 
are you still happy to proceed with this Healthwatch call = Yes 98.3% No 1.7% 
for the 11 people who answered ‘No’ the call was ended. 
 
13 people needed food or supplies. 
 
41 people needed help paying for food. 
 
17 people with safeguarding concerns. 
  
42 people needed extra communication support due to sensory disability or 
dementia. 
  
82 people had identified and current mental health problems, with 22 people 
there were current and active safeguarding concerns.  
 
Over the period April to September there were 4 instances where the discharge 
did not seem to have been managed well and issues were escalated for 
investigation, these were all resolved quickly and satisfactorily. There have 
been two minor data breaches of data regulations neither of which involved 
data being shared beyond trusted agencies, both have been reported and 
resolved using established procedures. 
 
42 people were identified at the time of referral as having a need for additional 
communications support e.g. related to a sensory or learning disability or a 
need for interpreting/translation services. Where these needs have been 
identified, at the time of referral or when contacted by HOPs volunteers 
individual support has been arranged. We are in discussion with the Sussex 
Interpreting Service (SIS) to provide routine access to their services or divert 
referrals requiring this service directly to them. 
 
9 people have been identified as having a hearing disability and we are 
arranging to have access to a BSL (British Sign Language) service to assist 
people with that need in the future. 
 
We are currently exploring ways of improving the service to people needing 
additional communication support. A sense check with hospital clinicians is that 
the number of people needing additional support in this way are small but it is 
possible that some of the people we have been unable to reach with the project 
have additional communication needs. The key issue is accurate information 
provided at the time of referral to trigger the right sort of help. 
 
 

28



7 | P a g e  
 

 
 

1.1 Need for the service 
 
There seems to be a clear need for the service with 25% of people referred on for 
some sort of community support and 29% having issues post discharge, and 17% 
having issues or questions related directly to their hospital discharge. There is 
some evidence that hospital discharges and subsequent community support are not 
always managed well, see: https://www.healthwatchbrightonandhove.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/04/Hospital-Discharge-Final-Report-8Feb2019-with-
cover.pdf  
 
Pre COVID 19 we were helping the local acute Hospital Trust and City Council with 
an action plan to improve pre and post discharge care planning. This project was a 
natural progression from that work. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Issues to note 
 

“…... I do not know how we ever manged 
without this, without doubt Healthwatch have 

prevented hospital readmissions.” 
 

A senior nurse has told us 
 

This is a brilliant example of collaboration between BSUH, , Brighton and Hove City 
Council, and Healthwatch Brighton and Hove, which provides enhanced follow up and 

support for Brighton and Hove residents after their hospital discharge. It’s been a 
great way to find out how people are doing, what their experience has been like and 

crucially if there’s anything which could have been done to make things better. 
 

I have seen benefits such as more rapid resolutions of issues after discharge that 
individuals are having, and the bringing together of a wide range of professionals who 

may not have met otherwise to focus on making improvements, such as a recent 
cross-sector meeting about our patients with mental health needs. I am also delighted 

that local residents receive such holistic care, with the follow up providing an 
additional opportunity to signpost and refer people on to invaluable voluntary and 

community sector services – ranging from befriending, other forms of social 
prescribing, carer support and help with essentials such as food. 

 
Dr Philip Rankin who has worked with the BSUH Discharge Hub the past few months 

said 
 

29

https://www.healthwatchbrightonandhove.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Hospital-Discharge-Final-Report-8Feb2019-with-cover.pdf
https://www.healthwatchbrightonandhove.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Hospital-Discharge-Final-Report-8Feb2019-with-cover.pdf
https://www.healthwatchbrightonandhove.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Hospital-Discharge-Final-Report-8Feb2019-with-cover.pdf


8 | P a g e  
 

  

 

1.2 Reassurance for the City Council and NHS 
 
It should probably not come as a surprise that people needed some extra help after 
hospital discharge. Not everything can be predicted by hospitals and we are living 
in exceptional times. It is reassuring however that of the 1,152 people covered by 
this report only four discharges were escalated because the discharge did not seem 
to have been managed well. Those issues/ problems were readily identified, the 
families contacted by senior nurses and the issues resolved, with lessons learnt 
promptly [and the CQC advised]. 
 
A useful early lesson from this project may be that we need to plan for the 
unpredictable nature of hospital discharge, and not regard it as a failure if all 
needs are not anticipated. In this group of vulnerable people, 45% had long term 
health conditions and 29% had unpaid carer responsibilities, 18.5% had been 
identified by the NHS as extremely vulnerable, that amounts to a high-risk 
community. Those risks, however, are largely predictable and seem to be 
manageable within existing NHS and City Council resources. These resources have 
been re-deployed and boosted during the COVID response period however there is 
no indication that anyone needs special or additional support beyond what already 
exists at present.  
 
This Wellbeing check project is in its infancy, links between the project and 
primary care and NHS Community services are not automatic, some of the systems 
we employ are lacking resilience and are vulnerable to predictable and avoidable 
pressures, e.g. staff and volunteer holidays or shortages.  
Links between the project, Adult Social Care and the Brighton and Hove 
Community Hub are good, with social care being able to identify people who are 
already known to social workers and who already receive social care services.  
 
The project also links well with the Mental Health Rapid Response (MHRR) service 
provided by Sussex Partnership Foundation Trust [SPFT], that team have helped 
prepare a referral and support route for Hops volunteers who contact with people 
who present with self-harm and suicidal ideation. However, these remain among 
the most personally challenging sort of call our volunteers make, and we have had 
volunteers pull out of the project after having manage calls of this nature. 
An emerging issue is the number of people being referred to the project with self-
harm, attempted suicide, suicidal ideation, and serious mental health problems. As 
a ‘snapshot’ early in September 20 we checked 100 people on our waiting list and 
for 20 people self-harm, attempted suicide or risky behaviour was the main reason 
they had visited hospital and a further 15 – 20 people had that and mental health 
issues in their referred information. The project is linking with the MHRR service 
and hospital based psychiatric liaison service to explore these issues. 
 
 
 
 

 

30



9 | P a g e  
 

1.3 Public and Patient confidence in the service 
Client accepting the call = 98.4% 
Call was helpful = 97%; extremely or very helpful = 66% 
Permission to check back in a few months = 75% 
 

1.4 Successful contacts   
Healthwatch were unable to directly support 448 of the 1152 people referred from 
April to September 20.  
 
It is important to note that we attempted to reach most of these people and often 
discovered from their family that they were not living at home: 

 
The 96 people now living in a variety of care settings we will assume are having 
their care needs met, similarly for those people living outside Brighton and Hove 
(we have referral processes for people who may benefit from a similar scheme 
operating in East Sussex).  
 
The 55 people we might have contacted with better referral information points to 
us needing to improve the referral path to HOPs. 
 

Tried to ring several times but no response to calls or messages     = 208 
 

Re-admitted or still in hospital      =   52 
 

Discharged to or now live at another setting, care/nursing home    =   42 
 

Not residents of Brighton and Hove     =   39 
 

Wrong information given                =   36 
 

Missing contact information      =   19 
 

Other reason for failing to make contact             =   69 
 

Staying with family and friends                                                     =     2 
 

There are five distinct groups of people, who we have been unable to reach: 

• People where we tried several times, but they did not pick up the phone or 

respond to messages = 208 

• People in a hospital or other care setting or with their family = 96 

• People living outside the City = 39 

• People we might have contacted with better referral information = 55 

• Other reasons = 69, in the main these are duplicated records 

 

31



10 | P a g e  
 

We are further investigating the clinical and personal profile of the 208 people we 
called several times but were unable to reach. This represents 18% of all those 
referred and our plans for developing the project into the future require us to 
better understand that group of people. For example, if a large percentage have 
additional communication needs, or serious and persistent mental health issues, or 
perhaps these are just people who have chosen not to call us back because they do 
not need the HOPs services. 
 

1.5 Referral flow 
The project is focused on people discharged from hospital on pathways 0 and 1 – 
typically able to be supported in their own home. 
 
Referral numbers started relatively low, and we had a two-week trial period in 
early April 20. Referrals rose to 50-100 people per week in July and are now 
running at 160+ per week and mid-September [at the time of preparing this report] 
we are experiencing another surge in referrals. There was dip in referrals in August 
associated with admin; staff at BSUH being on leave, perhaps demonstrating the 
vulnerability of the project, as not currently being imbedded into NHS systems as 
‘business as usual’. Excluding April 20, as a trial period, referrals from May to mid-
September have run at 100 per week on average with notable surges. 
 
Forward projection of likely demand, in consultation with BSUH indicates a ‘new 
normal’, likely future routine level of demand at 190-230 referrals a week. Our 
initial expectation that people would be contacted with a week of discharge has 
been compromised and with have taken corrective action to secure a low waiting 
time and reliable service: 

• Proactively texting people who have been on the waiting list for 3 weeks 

• Ensuring that people who actively request a call receive that service 

promptly 

• Recruiting new volunteers 

• Amending the advice leaflet to establish realistic expectations of the service 

32



11 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1.6 Are people made aware of this Healthwatch service? 
 
83% of people told us they had not been informed by the hospital we would be 
calling them. This should be a routine part of the discharge process. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The issue of people, or their families, not being given advice leaflets or discharge 
booklets was also a theme in the Healthwatch ‘Let’s get you home’ report 
mentioned previously.  
 
We might be wise not to rush to judgement, hospital staff often say that the 
correct advice and/or documents were provided. People may have been too ill or 
anxious to remember, a leaflet might have been casually discarded, however it is 
an unresolved issue that needs further investigation and 83% seems to be too large 
a proportion for there not be some lesson to be learnt. 
 
 

That is difficult for volunteers one of whom was told, by 
a relative of the person being called:  
 
“…..I have no idea who you are we were not told you 
would be calling us and I am telling you nothing…..phone 
slammed down….”.  

 

33



12 | P a g e  
 

1.7 People referred onto additional community support 
178 people were referred on for specific additional community support 
 

Referred to Healthwatch Self-referral Total 

BHCC Community Hub online 6 15 21 

Possibility People, Link Back scheme for 
over 55yrs 

27 14 41 

Aging Well service [over 50yrs] 9 17 26 

Together Co – befriending 4 8 12 

Carers Hub 5 30 35 

GP Surgery 6 13 19 

NHS/BHCC Community Assessment Scheme 2 1 3 

Mental health support 3 13 16 
 

A further 50 people were signposted or referred for other, unspecified, community support. 
 

1.8 HOPs and unpaid Carers  
Unpaid carers may be family and friends or volunteers e.g. from the Brighton 
Carers Hub, https://carershub.co.uk/  

• 180 from the 709 people we directly supported (25%) were themselves 

unpaid carers  

• 35 of those people wanted support from the Brighton Carers Hub and were 

signposted or referred directly by HOPs volunteers 

We would like to explore further the multiple impact on families when an unpaid 
carer is taken into hospital and the issues and pressure associated with their 
subsequent discharge. The profile of many people called by HOPs is that of being 
socially and medically vulnerable: 25% unpaid carers, 45% with long term health or 
disability issues and 18.5% identified by the NHS as particularly vulnerable to 
COVID. We have not yet been able to investigate the impact on the person for 
whom they normally act as an unpaid carer when temporarily that assistance is not 
available. 

 
 
 
 

2.1 The impact of HOPS – Hospital Discharge Wellbeing 
signposting 
 
HOPS is not the only service in Brighton and Hove that supports hospital discharge, 
the Red Cross have a take home and settle service and Possibility People have a 
post discharge social prescribing service, there are other specialist post discharge 
support services serving smaller communities of common interest. 
The unique role that HOPS provides is threefold: 

• A check on discharge arrangements and new or unexpected community 

needs 

2. Discussion and case studies 
 

34

https://carershub.co.uk/


13 | P a g e  
 

• Routine and proactive, light touch, contact to check if people need any 

extra help 

• A signposting service for people who may be vulnerable and have needs 

unrelated to hospital discharge 

This role is entirely consistent with the objectives of local Healthwatch, one of 
which is to help signpost people through the complex systems of health and social 
care. 
It is too early in the project, and it has not yet been possible, to fully evaluate 
impact on metrics such as re-admission rate, the capacity to do that lies with the 
NHS and is not in the gift of Healthwatch. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This had brough the right kind of help, more directly to people, in a timelier way, 
than would have happened without the HOPS initiative. 
 
 
 
 
 

2.2 Improved experience of hospital discharge and integrated 
care 

We, however, show impact in several ways: 
 

✓ 17% of people we contacted has issues directly related to their 

hospital discharge, most discharges seem to have been managed as 

planned therefore it is likely that most of these will be unexpected, 

unanticipated issues that arose once they got home. This should not 

be a surprise to health and care providers or commissioners but 

before HOPS the mechanism for dealing with those issues was to 

rely on people to seek help spontaneously themselves. But we know 

that the people most likely to have additional issues are vulnerable, 

45% have long term health and care problems and 25% are unpaid 

carers.  

 

✓ 25% of people were referred or signposted for additional community 

support 

 
 

✓ HOPs has provided a high degree of assurance that most hospital 

discharges are managed well in the best interests of patients and 

their families, we have been able to signpost people to the services 

that fit with their individual care needs, preferences and 

expectations 

 

35



14 | P a g e  
 

People welcome the HOPS calls over 98%, only 11 people did not accept the 
wellbeing check that we offer. 75% were happy to be recontacted for a follow up 
call. That is not currently part of the project but is a potential add in for the 
future.  
 
97% of people found the call was helpful and 66% rated that as extremely or, very 
helpful. 
 
A quick call to check on wellbeing has the potential improve the hospital discharge 
and community follow up experience. Personalising the process and being more 
proactive and responsive to emerging or unexpected care needs, that is a desirable 
outcome. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

36



15 | P a g e  
 

3. Sustainability 
The project was started quickly and with commendable flexibility exercised by the 
City Council and NHS in allowing existing Healthwatch resources to be re-directed 
and providing additional funding. The initial 6-month funding period is close to 
amend and a further 3 months funding has been provided to allow sustainability 
planning.  

The key issues for sustainability planning are likely be: 
 

• Is this a time limited project relevant only during COVID response and COVID 

Restoration and Recovery or might it be a useful long-term addition to local 

service provision? 

 

• Has the project provided evidence of benefit to individuals and the health and 

care system to sufficient to justify further investment? 

 
 

• The project cannot be provided long term within existing resources and will 

require a small on-going investment from commissioners like that already 

provided by BHCC and B&H CCG. As an addendum to this report Healthwatch will 

provide future financial projection estimates for commissioners 

 

• The project has led to a similar service being developed by the NHS and 

Healthwatch East Sussex, while Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

carry out a parallel function in house. Sustainability discussions might include an 

exploration of place-based vs Sussex wide options 

 
 

• The project has already included some elements of ‘added value’ e.g. phone 

follow up of people who declines or reduced their homecare packages during 

COVID lockdown. Additional added value opportunities should be explored as part 

of sustainability discussions e.g. potential contribution to NHS COVID Phase III 

planning, Mental Health services COVID Restore and Recovery planning and 

potential service redesign, linking HOPs data with BHCC data on people who are 

COVID Shielded – to allow priority to be given for follow up, potential for 

something similar for people with mental health issues particularly suicide 

attempts, self-harm, suicidal ideation 

 

• Commissioners will need to consider a procurement process if this project 

develops from being experimental and time limited to ‘business as usual’ 

 
 

• The project is currently funded to the end of December 2020 by the NHS with a 

commitment by BHCC to the end of the 2020/21 financial year, therefore sustain 

ability discussions should be concluded, ideally, by the end of November 2020 to 

allow Healthwatch to construct an exit plan should that be necessary 

37



16 | P a g e  
 

4. Hospital re-admission rates for HOPs  
Healthwatch are not able to provide comparative data on hospital readmission 
rates for HOPs against a control sample or past trends. That is probably difficult 
and potentially unreliable given the way hospital admission and discharges have 
been, necessarily, managed in differing ways during the COVID period. However, 
we have data on hospital readmissions for a sample of people receiving HOPs calls. 
Dr Phillip Rankin, BSUH, reviewed 110 out of 1424 people who had been supported 
by HOPs sampled from a spread April-August 2020. He considered 7-day re-
attendance rate, 7-day readmission rate and 30-day re-admission rate. 
 

 Re-attendance 7 
days 

Re-admission 7 
days 

Re-admission 30 
days 

No 101 103 85 

Yes 9 [8%] 7[6%] 25 [23%] 

 
Of the 25 reattend/readmitted within 30 days, 3 have died, 2 were related to recurrent 
mental health needs. 
 

5. Mental Health needs 
 

At present we can only provide a snapshot of people presenting to HOPs with serious 
mental health issues, the signposting for many will be into established relationships with 
Mental Health services, statutory sector, and VCS. We should acknowledge the excellent 
support and co-operation the project has had from the NHS Mental health Rapid Response 
Team (MHRRT) in Brighton Hove, the NHS Mental Health Psychiatric Liaison Service (MHPLS) 
based at the RSCH and the Community Roots team at Southdown Housing [who have also 
provided Suicide Awareness training for HOPs volunteers and Healthwatch staff]. 
 
Recently reviewing hospital discharge arrangements for people with mental health needs, 
with the MHRRT and MHPLS, hospital social work team and discharge hub staff, provided 
some invaluable insight and lessons to be learnt: 
 

• A strong sense of common purpose and willingness to support the HOPs project and 
improve services for people with mental health issues 
 

• Some frustration and resignation, including experienced front line professional with 
decades of dedicated service, with flawed and fragmented system for tracking and 
keeping in contact with vulnerable people. A system that responds well and 
promptly when people are in urgent need, but which does not provide built-in 
routine check and light touch proactive contact. HOPs provided one such 
opportunity, but we are deeply aware that we are unable to contact over 30% of the 
people referred# 

 

• The disconnected nature of current support systems includes no automatic tracking 
and linking hospital discharge with City Council social care, primary care or voluntary 
and community services. The journey of someone vulnerable with emotional and 
mental health issues can be in and out of hospital for a variety of reasons. Some not 

38



17 | P a g e  
 

associated with their mental health but nonetheless physical health issues that 
impact their emotional wellbeing. With no trigger built into the system to offer 
proactive support unless their fall into a personal or health crisis. This in the context 
of overwhelming evidence of the impact on people in the City of health inequalities 
associated with social determinants – poverty, poor housing, loneliness, and social 
isolation 

 

• Systems and staff supporting front line services that are under constant and heavy 
demand with little or no capacity to respond to emerging and rapidly changing needs 
for data analysis and information transfer. This applies not just to mental health but 
to the wider demands of improving pathway 0 and 1 hospital discharges 

 

• A need to further improve support for volunteers, on the HOPs project, but also the 
wider community and voluntary sector, who often feel they carry a responsibility 
and duty of care to people with whom they are intended only to have brief and very 
time limited contact.   

 
A review of 1,567 referrals to HOPs April-September 2020 included 247 people with 
mentions in the notes of suicide, suicidal ideation, overdose, self-harm, self-neglect, mental 
health, depression, low mood, anxiety. Which accounts for 15.8% of those referred. We are 
currently exploring with NHS Mental Health Services how we might best provide support 
and signposting for these people, given that the proportion of people referred with these 
kind of  issues is unlikely to drop significantly, particularly in the context of current activity 
and demand in mental health services and reported surges in demand from the VCS. 
 

6. Comments from HOPs partners 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

“The process of discharge can sometimes be quite rushed, so people often don’t leave 
hospital with all the information they need. This follow up call provides a safety net. 
Often we are working with people with very complex needs who need extra support to 
understand what services might have been set up for them or what support they might 
be able to access in the community” 
“I had a case the other day when a couple who were in rehab discharged themselves 
and left their rehab unit without their discharge summary or any information. When 
Healthwatch called the family, their adult children were able to liaise with the 
discharge hub and ensure that the support was put in place that was required to 
support their parent’s recovery. The mother required  follow up appointments and x 
rays as she had broken her neck and leg;  the advantage of having the call from 
Healthwatch follow up was that the couples frustrations and concerns could be 
addressed by someone who knew their case and could advise how the daughters could 
chase the appropriate follow up. ” 
“I think the service provides reassurance to families when their loved ones leave 
hospital; it gives them confidence when we tell them what should happen post 
discharge and how to chase it if it does not happen” 
 
Marilyn Hall – Matron Integrated Discharge Team (IDT), BSUH 
 
 

 

39



18 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

“When an individual or their family has any questions linked to the 
discharge, the Heathwatch Wellbeing Service has been able to work with 
the Discharge Hub to connect patients to the professionals who cared for 
them in the hospital in a timely way; providing reassurance and the 
appropriate advice, and on occasions linking to their G.P.  
 
Under Covid-19 people are vulnerable, we have an ageing population and 
many people live alone. Often people decline support when they are in 
hospital and it is only when they get home, they realise how different it is 
without 24-7 care. I think there is real value in an independent person 
calling these people when they return home, to explore if the person 
needs any additional support. This service provides a safety net and 
ensures people don’t slip through gaps in the system  
  
The Healthwatch Wellbeing service recently contacted the discharge hub, 
as they had spoken to the son of a man who had recently been discharged 
home following a fall. He has been told an OT will come to the house but 
had no further information. The discharge hub were able to talk to the 
rapid response service and ensure the family the OT was visiting that day 
at 1pm to undertake an assessment and provide details about the twice a 
day package of care that had been set up” 
 
Veena Lalsing:  Discharge Hub Co-ordinator, Brighton and Sussex 
University Hospitals Trust (BSUH) 
 

 

“I think the service is a really good idea, as it captures people that 
sometimes slip through the net and who may not be followed up in the 
community. Sometimes when we talk to relatives or friends on the wards 
they have unrealistic expectations of the support they can offer their 
loved one when the person leave’s hospital. The family can struggle to 
meet the person’s needs and there is no easy access to support or advice 
once you are home”  
“We are seeing a lot of people coming into hospital because of self-harm 
or they may have taken an overdose. These people have mental health 
needs, which the hospital is not set up to deal with and there seems to 
be very limited support in the community. Sometimes all these people 
need is a phone call, a friendly voice when they get home, reassurance 
that someone care’s and is checking up on them; it can make a big 
difference to these people” 
 
“I think communication between Healthwatch, and the hospital has been 
really good. If there have been any issues, they have been dealt with 
them quickly. In the 22 years I have worked for the NHS, I haven’t seen 
an equivalent service, with the same offer” 
 
Marina Richardson- BSUH – Discharge Hub Administrator 
 

 

40



19 | P a g e  
 

7. HOPs volunteers 
 

• Initially HOPs were delivered by a team of 5 longstanding volunteers, 

previously they provided follow visits and calls to people in Brighton and 

Hove receiving Home Care services. A sample of Home Care users would be 

contacted by our volunteers every month to test the quality and reliability 

of the services they received and make suggestions for improving the service 

user experience. This project was suspended during the COVID lockdown and 

replaced by HOPs 

 

• The team of 5 volunteers has been expanded to 18 caller volunteers and one 

admin’ volunteer. New volunteers were recruited temporarily from other 

local Healthwatch in Sussex, then on a longer term basis from the volunteer 

teams at the Royal Sussex County Hospital (RSCH) and Brighton and Sussex 

University Hospitals Trust (BSUH), the local NHS acute hospital trust and 

Sussex Community Foundation Trust who provide community health services 

in Brighton and Hove. We have now approached the local mental health 

trust to include some of their volunteers and people with lived experience 

of mental health services. Southdown Housing kindly provided training free 

of charge on suicide awareness. With more free training provided on 

Safeguarding and data management and GDPR by Brighton and Hove City 

Council 

 

• Since April 2020 Healthwatch has had 27 volunteers working on the project 

with a turnover of 8 volunteers 

 

• A former student volunteer at Healthwatch has been taken onto our staff 

team fulltime to support the HOPs project 

 

• New volunteers have been recruited from: 

o Existing Healthwatch volunteers and our Board of Directors = 7 

volunteers 

o Established Healthwatch volunteer recruitment processes = 3 

volunteers 

o BSUH NHS Trust volunteers now working with Healthwatch = 6 

volunteers 

o Sussex Community Foundation Trust (SCFT) volunteers now working 

with Healthwatch = 3 volunteers 

HOPs has been a truly collaborative exercise in sharing volunteers with the NHS 
and in volunteers co designing and coproducing the service with NHS, City Council 
and Healthwatch paid staff. 

41



20 | P a g e  
 

The Healthwatch HOPs volunteers have provided 2816 hours of volunteering from 
April to September 2020, equivalent to 80 weeks of a nurse’s time and worth 
£36,500 financial value. 
 
Our volunteers said: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

8. HOPs Case Studies 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

“HOPs provide a wonderful 
safety net for people that 
need it” 

“Working on this project with Healthwatch has 
been rewarding, interesting and makes me feel 
I make a really difference to people’s lives” 

“Volunteers are able to have an independent conversation with the person, which can help 
the person feel reassured when they leave hospital. Through our contact we assess what 
has been going on for that person and advise on what support they might be able to access. 
We provide a link back to the hospital or GP where necessary. We recently had Suicide 
Prevention Training, which was a valuable session for all of us, as sometimes the 
conversations we have are challenging” 

 

“I started as a volunteer with Healthwatch when I was student and now work with them full 
time, mostly on the HOPs project. It has been a challenge but a great opportunity, only two 
people from my graduation year have proper jobs – this has given me a real start in my 
working life.” 

 

Case Study 1  
Mary came out of hospital without 
the wheelchair they went in with 
(mislaid on admission).  They were 
now being asked to buy another 
wheelchair and they were distressed 
as this was a large expense and the 
chair had been lost through no fault 
of their own.  Our volunteer was 
able to assist with the procurement 
of a new wheelchair without the 
requirement to pay again.  

 

42



21 | P a g e  
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case Study 3  
Sarah left hospital unsure about her medication, the instructions for use, and whether she had 
been put on ‘new pills’.  Our volunteer spoke to the hospital, re-confirmed the exact 
requirement and instructions for use and was able to talk this through with the Sarah. 

 

Case Study 4  
Paul left hospital without their partner being informed.  They arrived home with medical 
patches to be applied to the body and an understanding of how they should be applied. 
However, when the partner read the instructions that came with the patches this suggested the 
information the person had been given in hospital was incorrect.  Our volunteer was able to 
contact the person’s local pharmacy and clarify instructions with their partner.  By doing so, the 
anxiety felt by Paul and his partner was ameliorated.  

 

Case Study 5 
Sharon appeared at first independent, but through talking with our volunteer several needs 
were identified.  These included help with shopping (Sharon did not have enough food and no 
delivery plans) befriending, potential memory loss and some financial difficulties.  Our 
volunteer referred the person to a local voluntary organisation who carried out a significant 
assessment of the person and collaborated extensively with a long-distance family member.  As 
a result of this referral, several support services were put in place.  These included: 

• Age UK (financial review and benefit support),  

• The City Council Early Response Service arranged emergency shopping and one-off 
laundry service, (after which the family member arranged regular food delivery).  

• Contact with the GP regarding memory issues and referral to Responsive Services – short 
term support provided by the City Council and NHS Community Health services 

• Brighton and Hove City Council Access Point (for an Adult Social Care assessment)  
Together Co a local voluntary organisation providing befriending and similar services, for a 

regular volunteer shopper for smaller items. 

Case Study 6 
Jessica was discharged with a positive COVID result and potentially inadequate care package in 
place. Our volunteer spoke to the family member who was concerned that Jessica was not 
adhering to social distancing.  Also, that there were signs of deteriorating mental health and that 
the care package in place was not adequate to cover this. In addition, the family member 
supporting at home has their own long-term health condition, and other carer responsibilities 
within the family.  While managing well to balance the various needs, the situation with Jessica, 
was causing the family member to be at breaking point.  Our volunteer was there to listen to the 
family member, reassure them during this stressful time and put in place initial contacts of 
support including referral to a local voluntary organisation, Possibility People. 
Contact with Possibility People has since resulted in the following:  

• signposting to PALS,  

• liaison with the Specialist Older Adults Mental Health Service  

• referral to Alzheimer’s carer support team  

• information provided to the family member about the Carers Hub, how to access Disabled 
Facilities Grants funding and local peer support services.   

 

43



22 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case Study 6 
Arthur had a history of attempted suicide and was assigned with mental health support but 
had not seen their contact for a couple of weeks.  When our volunteer spoke to the person, 
they were desperate for someone to speak to and agreed for our volunteer to contact the 
Rapid Response Team (RRT) on their behalf.  Our volunteer was able to put Arthur in touch 
with the RRT and they arranged urgent additional support. 

 

Case Study 7 
Paul was discharged from hospital but unsure about the result of a COVID test.  Our 
volunteer made the call to the hospital discharge hub, to track the results down, and was 
able to assure the person that the test had been negative.  

 

Case Study 8 
Lisa had been discharged from hospital but when our volunteer phoned she spoke to Lisa’s 
landlady and discovered Lisa was ‘missing’ and had been for four weeks. The landlady was 
about to lock up the accommodation, and store Lisa’s belongings and wanted advice about 
reporting her as a missing person to Sussex Police. After numerous phone calls our 
Healthwatch volunteer discovered there had been two hospital discharges over a four week 
period but Lisa had never actually arrived home to her lodgings. We found her in a Care 
Home 30 miles away, safe and sound and we were able to ensure her belongings and 
accommodation were secured for when she was able to return home. 

 

Case Study 9 
Lisa had been discharged from hospital but when our volunteer phoned she spoke to Lisa’s 
landlady and discovered Lisa was ‘missing’ and had been for four weeks. The landlady was 
about to lock up the accommodation, and store Lisa’s belongings and wanted advice about 
reporting her as a missing person to Sussex Police. After numerous phone calls our 
Healthwatch volunteer discovered there had been two hospital discharges over a four week 
period but Lisa had never actually arrived home to her lodgings. We found her in a Care 
Home 30 miles away, safe and sound and we were able to ensure her belongings and 
accommodation were secured for when she was able to return home. 

 

44



23 | P a g e  
 

 
David Liley, Chief Officer, Healthwatch Brighton and Hove              
17/9/20 
david@healthwatchbrightonandhove.co.uk         
07931755343 

 

 
i Hospital discharge pathways are shown below, with referrals to HOPs are for people on 
care pathways 0 and 1 
 

 
 
i Referrals with failed contact: 
 
Failed contacts total = 448 from 1152[38.9%] 
From the 448 failed contacts: 
Tried several times, but no response to calls or messages (46.1%) 
Re-admitted or still in hospital (11.8%) 
Been discharged to or are living at another service or care/nursing home (9.3%) 
Do not live in B&H (8.6%) 
Wrong information given (8%) 
Missing contact information (4.2%) 
Staying with family/friends (0.4%) 
 
Action:  Request to BSUH for future reports on readmission rates for people passing through 
the HW HD Wellbeing project to indicate impact on readmission rates. BSUH admin to join 
the project oversight group and have routine contact with the Healthwatch Team. BSUH 
 

45

mailto:david@healthwatchbrightonandhove.co.uk


24 | P a g e  
 

 
admin’ to carefully sift those people not living in B&H addresses. Note Healthwatch East 
Sussex similar project has now started and has received approx’ 700 referrals. 
 
ii People referred for extra Community Support = 178 
 

Referred to Healthwatch Self-
referral 

Total 

BHCC Community Hub online 6 15 21 

Possibility People, Link Back 
scheme for over 55yrs 

27 14 41 

Aging Well service [over 
50yrs] 

9 17 26 

Together Co – befriending 4 8 12 

Carers Hub 5 30 35 

GP Surgery 6 13 19 

NHS/BHCC Community 
Assessment Scheme 

2 1 3 

Mental health support 3 13 16 

 
A further 50 people were signposted or referred for other, unspecified, community 
support. 
 
 
iii Post discharge 204 (29%) people has issues or questions post discharge of these 119 had 
specified issues directly related to their hospital discharge: 
 
From the 204 (29%) people with identified post discharge issues, 119 had issues specifically 
related to their hospital discharge, 85 people had issues or questions unrelated to the 
discharge. We need a ‘deeper dive’ to understand the issues and processes identified post 
discharge.  
 
Care Package = 31 
Physical issue = 32 
Medication and Pharmacy = 24 
Equipment = 14 
Service or appointment = 18 
 
Sub total = 119 
 
Other = 85 this category includes many issues unrelated to hospital discharge so is not 
particularly helpful as a source of intelligence 
 
56 people from the 704 people successfully contacted were referred to the hospital 
discharge hub 
 
 

46



25 | P a g e  
 

 
 
How to contact Healtwatch  
 
Healthwatch Brighton and Hove: 
Healthwatch Brighton and Hove 
Community Base 
113 Queens Road, 
Brighton 
BN1 3XG 
 

 
 
Share your experiences of health and social care services with us: 
 
office@healthwatchbrightonandhove.co.uk 
 
• 01273 234040 
 
• @healthwatchbrightonandhove 
 
• @HealthwatchBH 
 
• healthwatchbh 
 
Website: www.healthwatchbrightonandhove.co.uk 

47

mailto:office@healthwatchbrightonandhove.co.uk


48


	Agenda
	17 Minutes
	21 Brighton & Sussex University Hospitals Trust (BSUH) and Western Sussex Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (WSHT) Merger Proposals
	24 Healthwatch Post Discharge Patient Project
	HOPs report 6 month update


